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COUNCIL BILL NO. 98- 214

AN ORDINANCE
DESIGNATING THE SAGAMORE BUILDING AS A LANDMARK

(804 North Neil Street)

WHEREAS, at its May 7, 1998 meeting, the Historic Preservation Commission

forwarded and application for an Historic Landmark Designation of the property Iocated at 804

North Neil Street, (commonly known as the Sagamore Building) to the Plan Commission with a

recommendation that the application be approved; based on findings that said application

meets criteria set forth in paragraph a of Section 37-491 of the Zoning Ordinance, 1996; and

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission conducted a public hearing at its July 29, 1998

meeting, pursuant to provisions of Section 37-500 Chapter 37 of the Municipal Code of

Champaign, 1985, as amended, after due and proper notice of said hearing having been

published on June 8, in the News-Gazette; and

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission concurred with the findings approved by the Historic

Preservation Commission and, pursuant to the provisions of Section 502 of the Zoning

Ordinance, forwarded the application for designation to the City Council with a recommendation

of approval based on the findings attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as

Exhibit A; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Champaign, after due consideration, finds it is

in the best interest of the public good and welfare to designate the hereinafter described real

estate as a Landmark.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF

CHAMPAIGN, ILLINOIS, as follows:

Section 1. That the findings in the forgoing preamble are hereby incorporated by

reference and made a part of this Ordinance.
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Section2. That the property, legally described as follows:

42-20-12-229-021 - Lots 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of Block 13 of Beardsley and Shiver's Addition

Section 12, Township 19 North, Range 8 East.

and commonly known as 804 North Neil Street, Champaign, Illinois, or the Sagamore Building,

is hereby designated as a Landmark.

Section 3. That the City Clerk is hereby directed to file for the record a certified copy of

this Ordinance in the Office of the County Recorder for Champaign County, Illinois.

Section 4. That the City Clerk is hereby directed to transmit a copy of this Ordinance to

Peter and Joseph Bannon, 804 North Neil Street, Champaign, Illinois 61820, the City of

Champaign Building Safety Division, City of Champaign Neighborhood Services Department,

and to the City of Champaign Planning Department.

COUNCIL BILL NO. 98- 214

PASSED: AUGUST 4, 1998

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

APPROVED: ___________________

- / Mayor

ATTEST: -re\ rJLr
'

City Clerk

City Attorney147
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EXHIBIT A

PLAN COMMISSION REVIEW
FINDING OF FACT - LANDMARK

804 North Neil Street
(Sagamore Building)

FINDINGS OF FACT ON CRITERION (a), (b), (c), and (d) OF SECTION 37-502 OF THE
ZONING ORDINANCE:

(a) The extent to which the application meets one or more of the applicable criteria set
forth in either Section 37-491, Section 37-492, or Section 37-493. The application fully
meets the criterion set forth in the recommendation of the Historic Preservation
Commission.

FINDINGS OF FACT ON CRITERION (a) OF SECTION 37-491 OF THE ZONING
ORDINANCE:

(a) The property or structure has significant value as part of the historical, cultural,
artistic, social, ethnic, or other heritage of the nation, state or community
because the building was originally used as car barns for the inter-urban street railway
system (known as the Illinois Traction System). The Illinois Traction System existed
from the late 1 890s to the 1 940s and linked Champaign-Urbana with Danville, Decatur,
Bloomington, Peoria, Springfield and St. Louis. The street railway system played an
important role in the physical development of Champaign, permitting expansion of the
City by opening up new areas for residential development and providing transportation
for both people and goods throughout Central Illinois. The inter-urban system allowed
Champaign businesses to draw from a regional market, thus contributing towards
Champaign's economic development.

(b) Whether the designation is consistent with the intent and objectives of this Article, as
set forth in Section 37-452, and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally. This
application is consistent with the intent and objectives of the Historic Preservation
Ordinance and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally.

(c) Whether the property owner has demonstrated that a reasonable return cannot be
obtained on the property if it is so designated. The property owner has not
demonstrated an inability to obtain a reasonable return on the property.

(d) Whether the property owner opposes the designation. The property owner supports the
designation of the property as a landmark.
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S REPORT TO CITY COUNCIL

FROM: Steven C. Carter, City Manager

DATE: July 28, 1998

SUBJECT: EXPLANATION OF COUNCIL BILL NO.98 - 214

A. Introduction: This Council Bill designates 804 North Neil Street (Sagamore Building) as a
Landmark.

B. Recommended Action: Staff recommends the City Council choose Alternative 1 to adopt the
proposed findings as attached, and approve the application for Landmark designation.

C. Summary:

• The Historic Preservation Commission recommended approval of the application for a landmark
designation at its May 7, 1998 meeting.

• The Plan Commission recommended approval of the application for a landmark designation at its
July 29, 1998 meeting.

• The property owner supports the designation.

5 D. Background:

Applicant: Jeremy Hayes
Owner: Peter Bannon & Joseph Bannon Jr.
Location: 804 North Neil Street (west side of Neil Street between North & Tremont Streets)

Description of Property: This building at 804 North Neil Street is bounded by Neil Street on the west,
Hickory Street on the east, Tremont Street on the north, and North Street on the south. Parts of the
building have undergone several demolitions and reconstructions over the years and the property is
essentially made up of three attached but distinct buildings. The site was originally used as the trolley
barns for the inter-urban railway that once linked Champaign-Urbana to other Central Illinois
communities. At the time that these buildings were used for inter-urban trolleys, North Street was the
location of the right-of-way for the Central Illinois Railroad. The streetcar tracks were located to the
north of the site along Tremont Street. Streetcar tracks turned south from Tremont Street and
proceeded down Neil Street towards Downtown Champaign where they split again, heading east
through Urbana and communities beyond, and west past West Side Park and to communities to the
west of the City.

The east half of the property, known as the Hickory Street Barn is the oldest portion of the building. A
Neil Street Barn once stood attached to the Hickory Street Barn, but fronting on Neil Street. This
structure was demolished and replaced, possibly several times, with other structures. The northwest
section of the building remaining today was built in 1927. The date of construction of the southwest
section of the building has not been determined, but is estimated at the early 1 950s.
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Hickory Street Barn (East Section): The Hickory Street Barn dates to before 1909 and possibly as early
as 1894. The Hickory Street Barn is of brick construction with little architectural detail except for brick
detailing around the windows. This section of the building has a stepped gable roof with light and
ventilation windows separating the two portions of the roof to create a two story interior space.

The north and south facades are divided into ten bays. The north facade contains ten windows grouped
in pairs. Each window is divided into twelve lights. All windows are detailed with arched lintels. The
vertical section separating the two planes of the roof contain windows, but has been altered over the
years by the removal of some windows and the addition of black corrugated metal sheathing.

The south facade currently contains the main entrance for the current tenant of the building. This facade
originally matched the north facade with ten 1 2-light windows. However, some of the windows have
been bricked in or altered to support HVAC systems or removed to create the main building entrance.
The original outlines of many of the windows are still evident. At the west end of the south facade, two
horizontal rectangular windows have been added. The roof top light and ventilation windows on the
south facade appear to have the original configuration. Unlike the north facade, no corrugated metal
sheathing is found on these windows.

The east facade originally contained the streetcar bay entrances and is characterized by a stepped
parapet, capped in either metal or tile. This facade has been altered substantially over the years. The
streetcar bays have been bricked in and two new 20-light windows added on the north end of the facade
where one of the streetcar bays was once located. Two loading bays with corrugated metal doors, as
well as an access door have replaced the streetcar bays on this facade. This facade originally contained
a round window, accented with a double row of bricks. This window has also been filled in with brick.

Northwest Section: The northwest section of the building, the tallest in the complex, is a full two stories.
Built in 1927, this section of the building is brick construction with a flat roof. This portion was likely
oriented toward Neil Street when it was originally constructed. The Neil Street facade (east facade)
contains a simple brick two story facade. The parapet wall, accented across the top with a diamond
brick pattern, slopes gently to a peak, hiding the flat roof behind. Four upper story windows (16 lights
each) are symmetrically placed across the facade. The first floor contains a loading bay door, another
access door and a window where an additional loading bay door was originally located.

The north facade contains a corrugated metal loading door, three identical multi-paned window
groupings and two smaller windows running from east to west in the first story. The upper story contains
five multi-paned windows placed symmetrically above the first story window and door openings. The
west end of the north facade contains two billboards. Only the second story of this building is exposed
to the south with the same multi-paned window groupings across the upper story as are found on the
north facade. One of the window groupings on the south facade has been bricked in.

The original use of this section of the building was for a stock and office building. This section replaced
earlier sections that were known as the Neil Street Car Barns and the garage and meter test rooms.

Southwest Section: This section of the building is a single story, flat roof brick structure fronting on to
Neil Street. The front (Neil Street) facade is flush with the facade of the northwest section. The front
facade contains an entrance door at the north end of the structure and a window grouping similar to
those found on the south facade.
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The south facade contains 4 bays, each containing a grouping of windows. The window groupings
consist of two 16 light windows flanking a brick center portion. The brick center of each window
grouping may originally have been another 16 light window. An entry door is also located along this
facade.

This structure was originally used as office space in the complex and currently houses a graphic art
business.

Comprehensive Plan: The Comprehensive Plan recognizes historic preservation as a tool for achieving
healthy neighborhoods and commercial areas. The Plan encourages the preservation of buildings that
have historical and architectural significance as a means of promoting visual environments of high
aesthetic quality and variety.

Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) Recommendation: At its meeting on May 7, 1998, the HPC
voted (7-0) in favor of findings on Criteria 37-491 (a) and determined that this property is therefore
eligible to be designated as a landmark. The criterion for designation that the HPC found favorably upon
is as follows:

(a) Significant value as part of the historical, cultural, artistic, social, ethnic, or other heritage of
the nation, state or community.

Plan Commission Recommendation: At its July 29, 1998 meeting, the Plan Commission voted 7-0 to. recommend approval of the designation based on the findings attached to the Council Bill.

E. Alternatives:

1. Concur with the findings of the HPC and Plan Commission and approve the application for landmark
designation.

2. Determine that the application for designation does not meet the criteria in Section 37-502, or make
findings to this effect, and deny the application for landmark designation.

F. Discussion of Alternatives: Alternative 1 should be chosen if City Council concurs with the
recommendations of HPC and Plan Commission to designate this property as a landmark.

The specific criteria for City Council consideration as outlined in Section 37-503, are as follows:

(a) The extent to which the application meets one or more of the applicable criteria set forth in
either Section 37-491, Section 37-492, or Section 37-493. The Plan Commission found that the
application fully meets the criteria as set forth in the recommendation of the Historic Preservation
Commission as follows:

That the application meets criterion (a) from Section 37-491 of the Zoning Ordinance as follows:

(a) Significant value as part of the historical, cultural, artistic, social, ethnic, or other heritage. of the nation, state or community. The applicant has supported this criterion by documenting
the uses of the building and providing a history of the inter-urban street railway system that linked
Champaign-Urbana to other Central Illinois communities. The Illinois Traction System, organized



I .

in 1904, was made up of several local street railway companies, who eventually merged by the
1920s into one company (Illinois Traction, Inc.). The system linked Champaign-Urbana with
Danville, Decatur, Bloomington, Clinton, Peoria, Springfield, and St. Louis and stopped at many
points in between.

From the 1890s to the 1940s, the electrified inter-urban systems played an important part in the
physical, economic, and cultural development of Champaign, providing transportation for both
people and goods throughout the Champaign-Urbana community and the Central Illinois region.
The electrified inter-urban system, and its predecessor the horse-drawn street railways, affected
the physical development of Champaign by opening up new areas of the community for
development. The street railway systems provided the means for the beginnings of
suburbanization, enabling people to live further and further from the City's center to escape the
urban congestion and pollution that industrialization brought yet still remain accessible to goods
and services found in the City's center.

The inter-urban system also expanded the commercial markets for Champaign businesses,
providing easy access to Champaign from other regional communities, thus contributing toward
the economic development of Champaign, as well as to the social and cultural development of
the community. Many cultural and recreational attractions were located along the street railway
lines for accessibility to both local and out-of-town patrons.

(b) Whether the designation is consistent with the intent and objectives of this Article, as set
forth in Section 37-452, and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally. The Plan
Commission found that this application is consistent with the intent and objectives of the Historic
Preservation Ordinance and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally.

(c) Whether the property owner has demonstrated that a reasonable return cannot be obtained
on the property if it is so designated. The Plan Commission found no evidence that the property
owner has not demonstrated an inability to obtain a reasonable return on the property.

(d) Whether the property owner opposes the designation. The Plan Commission found that the
property owner supports the designation of the property as a landmark.

Alternative 2 should be chosen if the City Council feels the property does not meet any of the criteria in
Section 37-491 of the Zoning Ordinance, that it is inconsistent with the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance
and Historic Preservation Ordinance, and is therefore not worthy as a landmark or that designation
would not allow the owner a reasonable return on the property. The City Council may also consider
owner opposition as a basis for defeating the Council Bill. The owner of this property has expressed
support for its designation. Staff, HPC, and Plan Commission all believe that designation of this property
is consistent with all criteria referenced.

F. Community Input: The owner and applicant were notified by mail of the nomination. A public
hearing was advertised in the News Gazette on June 8, 1998. The Plan Commission heard this case at
its June 24 and July 29, 1998 meetings. Minutes of the testimony before the Plan Commission are
attached.

H. Budget and Staffing Impact: If the property is designated as a landmark, staff time will be required
to review any applications for exterior alterations.
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Reviewed by:

Bruce A. Knigh
Planning Director

Attachment: A - Plan Commission Minutes
B - Application for Landmark Designation - 804 North Neil Street
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EXHIBIT A

JUNE 24, 1998 PLAN COMMISSION MEETING

HPC 98-004: Sagamore Publishing Landmark Designation, 804 North Neil Street

The Plan Commission Meeting scheduled for June 24, 1998 was canceled. All agenda items were
continued to a special meeting to be held on July 29, 1998 at 4:00 PM in Council Chambers.

JULY 29, 1998 PLAN COMMISSION MEETING

HPC 98-004: Sagamore Publishing Landmark Designation, 804 North Neil Street

Chairman Markstahler reopened this public hearing. He swore-in Staff for all remaining public hearings
on the agenda. Mr. Knight stated that two members of the Historic Preservation Commission are
present tonight if any Plan Commissioners have questions about the HPC's recommendations. Mr.
Phillips presented a brief outline of the case. He stated that the HPC recommended in favor of
designation of this property on the following criteria:

• Significant value as part of the historical, cultural, artistic, social, ethnic, or other heritage of the
nation, state, or community.

Mr. Phillips concluded his presentation with the owner's support of the designation, as well as the
support of Staff.

Ms. Hogue moved to close the public hearing. Mr. Green seconded the motion. The motion carried by
unanimous roll call vote. (VOTE: Hogue-yes; Green-yes; Patrick-yes; Heumann-yes; Dudley-yes;
Darling-yes; and Markstahler-yes.)

Mr. Green moved to forward Case No. HPC 98-004 to City Council with a recommendation for approval
of the application and the Findings of Fact attached to Staffs memorandum. Mr. Darling seconded the
motion. The motion carried by a unanimous roll call vote. (VOTE: Green-yes; Darling-yes; Dudley-yes;
Hogue-yes; Patrick-yes; Heumann-yes; and Markstahler-yes.)

g:\histpres\cbex\98004.doc
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HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION
dO PLANNING DEPARTMENT
102 N. NEIL ST.
CHAMPAIGN, IL 61820
PHONE: (217)351-4486
FAX: (217)351-6910

or Oce Use Only

r r'1-i.
I

MAR 1 2 1998

PLANNING DEPTI

Designation
CaseNo.:__________

APPLICATION
FOR

LANDMARK DESIGNATION

PLEASE PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION (please print or
type):

1. Common street address of Property being nominpted:
viore ;Id;n3. O4 Wor ,v€;I S,ree.+

2. Legal description of property being nominated:
J-o :Z1 f i', ,3/i(' /3 o1 acd/e,/qndShh/r's
4A.4;on, See. Il T 19W.

3. Property Index Number: 4Z. - 2 £) - /Z. 12. f - o I I
(from tax assessor's roll)

4. Name of Property Owner: 3c,1,io 73.+er L / Jo.5 €.pii Jr.
(from tax assessor's roll)

5. Address of Property Owner: c&,iora PutIsin C1o'. (from tax assessor's roll) cf J. Ne I
/L ,
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6. Attach a map showing the boundaries and location of the property.

C
7. Attach photographs and slides showing the important features of the property or

structure.

8. Indicate which of the following criteria apply to the property or structure (check
all that apply):

The property or structure has significant value as part of the historical,
cultural, artistic, social ethnic, or other heritage of the nation, state or
community

C] The property or structure is associated with an important person or event in
national, state or local history.

U The property or structure is representative of the distinguishing characteristics
of an architectural type inherently valuable for the study of a period style,
craftsmanship, method of construction or use of indigenous materials.

U The property or structure is the notable work of a master builder, designer,
architect or artist whose individual genius has influenced an era.

U The property or structure is identifiable as an established and familiar visual
feature in the community owing to itsunique location or physical-
characteristics.

U The property or structure is one of the few remaining examples of a particular
architectural style or use, or an example which majQi.
architectural style, and has undergone little or no alteration since its
construction.

9. Attach a general statement describing the property and its historical significance
and the reasons why it should be designated as a historic landmark. Include a
statement describing how the property meets the criteria listed above in #8. At
the end of these statements, please list your sources ofinformation, including
bibliographic references.
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PLEASE NOTE: Additional detailed information and photographs to support this
nomination may be required if the Historic Preservation Commission finds that the
property merits consideration.

10. Please provide the following applicant information.

APPLICANTS NAME: Jcrvv/ iy PHONE(day): 33 Z-O2OB

ADDRESS: i, , CITY: C k
12.0) . ch ZIP CODE: (i7Q

id' ccb RL
Morc) IL (q

7Ej

APPLICANT
SIGNATURE: (II)447' DATE: 9€'
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The structure at 804 N. Neil, currently known as the Sagamore Building has a rich history
and significant value as part of the historical and cultural heritage of the community. The
building was at one time the streetcar barns for the twin cities' electric streetcar railway,
operated by the Urbana and Champaign, Railway, Gas and Electric Light Company. This
company was one of the many companies part of the Illinois Traction Company, one of
the largest interurban rail systems in the United States, stretching across the entire state of
Illinois. City directories from the early part of the twentieth century refer to the building
(at 803 Hickory Street) as simply "I.T.S. Barn" (for Illinois Traction System).
"Interurban barn" is another common reference. The street railway in Champaign-Urbana
is an important part of local history and a prominent part of the development of the two
cities. For thirty-seven years this system was the only form of public transportation
(Chinn, 1979). The tracks and cars of the interurban have disappeared. The buildings
that once housed them are some of the last vestiges of the days of streetcars. Preserving
the former car barns is one way to connect present and future generations to Champaign's
cultural history.

The over 22,000 square foot building remains in many ways similar to its appearance in
the days of the streetcars. Additions to the original Hickory Street Car Barn have been
altered, but the main building's exterior remains intact. Other tenants of the space were
Champaign-Urbana City Lines Incorporated, a subsidiary of National City Lines, who
used part of the building to house twenty of its buses in the 1940's. Illinois Power
retained ownership of the building from the streetcar days, going by older names like
"Illinois-Iowa Power Company" and "Illinois Power and Light Corporation". Like many
of the warehouses of the era, the structure was built to last and remains as a viable
industrial and commercial property, recently housing corporate operations of Garcia's
Pizza and currently housing Sagamore Publishing (the owner), Management Learning
Laboratory, and Rad Art Screenprints.

It is unknown when this building was first constructed. Its presence is first documented
in the Sanbom fire insurance maps in 1909 (see attachment). Beginning in the late
1860's, Sanborn Map Company produced maps of cities for the purpose of identifying
fire hazardous buildings and industrial sites for insurance companies and underwriters
(Manning, 1994). Maps of Champaign prior to 1909 do not provide outlines of the
building. It is unsure whether the building existed in those previous years since Sanborn
would probably indicate an industrial building such as a streetcar barn, even though it was
north of the downtown area typically covered by maps at that time. One source, an article
published in the Champaign-Urbana Courier, indicates that the building was built in
1893-94 after Benjamin F. Harris, Jr. bought the Urbana-Champaign Railway, Gas and
Electricity Company from William B. McKinley (see attachment) in 1892. No other
evidence of this construction date is found, though. An age estimate on the Tax
Assessor's property record indicates "1920?" as the construction date, but this is
apparently much later than the actual date according to Sanborn map documentation.
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After 1909, the history of the building is much clearer. Through the use of the Sanborn
maps, we can see the changes that took place at this property over the years. Changes in
use and ownership, as well, are documented. The first map that documents the property
is the 1909 edition. The map shows the building divided into two sections, "Hickory St.
Barn" and "Neil Street Barn". Collectively, this and two other properties across Hickory
were labeled as Urbana and Champaign Railway, Gas and Electric Light Company. The
Hickory Street structure is twice as large as the Neil Street barn. The 1924 Sanborn
shows the same arrangement, with the Neil Street section labeled as "Garage and Meter
Test Room". Between 1924 and 1927 this part of the building was apparently
demolished. 1929 maps illustrate a new addition in place of the old one. This section
was flush with the north side of the Hickory Street barn, fronting Tremont Street. The
map indicates that the addition was built in 1927. It is labeled as "Stock and Office
Building 'Semi F.P.' ". This 1929 map also shows a third section of the building labeled
as a garage that fronts North street to give the entire structure its fully rectangular shape it
maintains today. This is not to say that the current "southwest section" addition is the
original that was constructed between 1924 and 1929. It has undergone significant
changes in structure (the exterior material, for instance) and use that may indicate several
demolitions and reconstructions. This is all the more likely since it is the smallest and
simplest part of the building, having only one story. In addition, Sanborn maps in 1959
and the 1960's label this addition as "OFF. [office] Noncomb - 1956. Concrete floor

Metal deck roof."

The entire structure is currently all brick and as explained above, a connection of three
major sections. The entire building has little architectural detail, showing only minor
brick detailing around windows and doors. The first section is the rear part fronting
Hickory street. This section is distinguished on Sanborn fire insurance maps as early as
1909 as the "Hickory Street Car Barns". Since no known evidence of the property exists
prior to 1909, it is entirely possible that it was an independent structure at one time, pre-
dating the original Neil Street Barn. It has a stepped front gable roof. This section of the
structure is a tall one story with a monitor roof pitch adding a second story space in the
middle. The north and south sides have ten bays, five groups of two bays. The north
side has particularly well preserved twelve-light single-pane windows. All of this
section's windows are treated with triple rowlock segmental arches. Partially intact
windows remain on the south side as well. The rear facade was obviously once the focal
point of thc structure. It is the most detailed, with two large twenty-light windows at the
northern end and a large round window (now bricked over) at the top center surrounded
by double rowlock border. While there are now two loading docks on this facade, the
brick pattern suggests that the majority of this rear facade may have been open and
covered by doors. This may be supported by a photograph in Baker and Miller (1984, p.
63; see attachment) which does not mention the structure in the background. The photo
shows several workmen in front of a barn with cars situated in three of the four large open
doorways.

S The second section of the structure is the large northeastern corner. This part is the tallest
part of the building, with two full high stories and a flat pitched roof. The side walls of

2
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this and the "Hickory Street Barn" section mesh well, the break in roof line providing the
best physical indication that the two were separately constructed. In addition, pre-1929
Sanborn maps show an orientation different from today's for either of the two non-
Hickory sections. Sanborn documentation later indicates that the second section was
added in 1927. This large, two story section has many large multi-light windows, all with
rowlock borders above them. The north wall (fronting Tremont Street) has a loading
dock and several groups of three adjoining multi-light windows. This second section has
a flat roof. The front extends nearly to Neil Street, showing brick detailing at the top of
this front facade.

The third and final section of the building is a flat-roofed, newer one-story addition,
presumably adding some office space to the warehouse. This section's front face is flush
with the previous section's, with its southern side fronting North street. This facade is
also flush with the Hickory street section, giving the entire structure its complete
rectangular shape. Both exterior fronts are brick in construction. This adds to the
difficulty in assessing the date of this addition because maps after the addition was
originally made between 1924 and 1927 indicate a concrete block construction. From
this time until sometime between 1949 and 1959, it was used as garage. All later
indications (including current observation) point to the use of the space as
office/reception. The major current difference in this section of the building is the shape
of the windows, which are smaller and more modern than the others on the building.

The development of the area north of downtown Champaign in which the street car barns
are located is a district heavily effected by the railroads that frame it. The property was
bordered on the south by the Illinois Central Railroad's Havana Line. It was just a half-
block from the "Big Four", or Cleveland, Cincinnati, Chicago and St. Louis Railroad, and
just a few blocks away from the juncture of the North-South line of the illinois Central
and the Big Four. Many of the establishments in this area were formed to serve or be
served by the railroads. Just south of the barns was the Arlington/St. James hotel, which
once thrived on railroad passengers. Before its demolition, just across Hickory Street
from the barns was the power house for the Urbana and Champaign Railway, Gas and
Electric Light Co., later the Illinois Power and Light Corporation (Sanborn, 1924). One
could easily see why this part of the city was a natural location to house the street cars
that ran on electricity generated across the street by the same company.

Street railways were an important part of the operation of the city economically and
culturally, playing a formative role in the city's development. In the fall of 1869, the
early days of the city, Edward Ater, Daniel Gardner, Clark R. Griggs, and other investors
organized the Urbana and Champaign Horse Railway Company to serve the
transportation needs of the city (Stewart, 1912). Street railway did exist prior to the
formation of that company, though. According to Stewart (1912) mules were used before
this corporation's existence. For many years, the street railway was vital to the industrial
and commercial needs of the city. With the aid of this system, any of the city's
commercial enterprises had access to the city's many railroads, Champaign's economic
lifeblood. In these early days, the twin cities' Street railway contributed to regional

3
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economic development by providing the only access for Urbana industries to the Illinois
Central before the Indianapolis, Bloomington and Western railroad began operation in the
1870's. In 1 890, twenty-one years after the introduction of horses, utility magnate and
later senator William B. McKinley was elected president of the Urbana and Champaign
Railway, Gas and Electric Company (which evolved from Urbana and Champaign Horse
Railway Company) and things would soon change for the street railway in Champaign
and many other cities in Illinois (Stewart, 1912).

Not long after McKinley took the helm of the railway, he switched from horse to electric
power. Only a year after that monumental change, he sold his business to local banker,
B.F. Harris, amidst a financial crisis (Chinn, 1979). It was shortly after this sale (1893-
94) that a Courier article claimed the Hickory Street Car Barn was erected ("Old Car Barn
Being Razed"). In 1898, McKinley repurchased the railway and acquired the local gas and
electric utilities. This would soon become a pattern for McKinley in many cities across
the Midwestern United States (Chinn, 1979). When he purchased the Danville Street
Railway in 1901 and extended it to Champaign-Urbana, the Illinois Traction System had
begun. Stringham (1989) points out that

Although Illinois Traction System was lettered on all of the line's equipment,
and was used by everyone who spoke of it, there was never a time when that was
its official title. The system instead was made of many companies, financed by
the same syndicate, organized as the Illinois Traction Company in 1904.. .But as. time went by, some of the smaller companies consolidated with each other until
1923, all electric line became Illinois Traction Incorporated (p. 249).

For forty years, from 1903 when the first trip from Danville to Champaign was made, to
the 1940's when parts of the Traction lines were scrapped, the interurban linked Illinois
cities, enhancing the mobility of Champaign's residents and shaping the way central
Illinois developed. As J.R. Stewart put it in 1918, "The railroads of Champaign County,
both steam and electric, have completed its mediums of development, originating in its
great wealth of the soil and its remarkable intellectual spirit which received such an early
and permanent impetus" (p. 329). This of course, is not to mention the use of the
streetcars within the city. The streetcars of the twin cities played an integral role in the
everyday lives of many citizens. The streetcars allowed Champaign's residents to have
more choice in where they lived, making a daily commute to work a possibility.

Susan Chinn (1979) describes the social importance of the streetcars best, illustrating
such events on its cars from college fraternity parties (it was quite fashionable to rent a
car and ride around town all night) and funeral processions. The street railway also was
important for recreation. Parks, both public and private were built along the streetcar
lines, enhancing the lives of the city's residents. When B. F. Harris was running the
streetcar operations in the 1890's he built a full-blown amusement park along the line-a
common practice in those days designed to enhance ridership. Baker and Miller (1984)
describe the West End Amusement Park, "on Church Street at what was then the western
city limit of Champaign. The park was an inducement to riders on the Urbana and

4



. .
Champaign Railway streetcars. Highlights of the park facilities were a shooting gallery, a
six-hundred seat summer theater, and a roller coaster type of ride" (p. 61). Chinn (1979)
provides reminiscences of the streetcar days when the nightlife of downtown with its
theaters and dance halls was always a few minutes away. It was the streetcars that moved
the city and made it possible to continue to expand its boundaries.

Many other Illinois Traction buildings have been destroyed in other cities. The legacy of
the days of streetcars in many cities has been forgotten. Fortunately, citizens of
Champaign have showed commitment to preserving its cultural past by saving old
railroad facilities, including the one-time iTS station and ticket office. As it moves ahead
to the future, the city and region should remember that it was rail that made the city and
helped it grow and prosper.

S

.
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ATTACHMENTS

1) 1909 Sanborn Fire Insurance map. First documentation of the property.

2) 1969 Sanborn Fire Insurance map. Recent depiction of the property

3) Photograph, William B. McKinley.

4) Photograph, Unnamed Interurban barn in Champaign County.

5) Tax Assessor Record for the property
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As the non-farm work force grew larger, local passenger,sportation needs increased greatly. Utilities magnate
jam B. McKinley electrified the old horse-drawn street

railway in 1891. The following year, he sold the business to
Benjamin F. Harris, Jr. The new owner, although only
twenty-five years old at the time he bought the company,
successfully managed and expanded services of the Urbana and
Champaign Railway until 1898. At that time, McKinley
repurchased the company, and also acquired the local gas and
electric utilities in the Twin Cities. In 1900, he negotiated
ownership of the Danville Street Railway, and expanded its
system to serve the outlying towns of Catlin and Westville. By
masterful planning he had formed the nucleus of an electric
railroad called the Danville, Urbana, and Champaign Railway
Company. In 1901, the route of this new passenger train was
a subject of great interest; when finally revealed, it was cause
for celebration in communities which' would benefit from
improved transportation. Mayview, Ogden, and St. Joseph were
included along the route to Danville. A branch line was built
from Ogden to Homer in 1904, which was to enhance the
economic interests of both communities.

.

Street Railway Conductor or Motorman
(Possibly G. Viles), c. 1905-1910,
Urbana and Champaign Railway

The West End Amusement Park
was crea ted by Benjamin F. Harris,
Jr., on West Church Street at 'hat
was then the western city limit of
Champaign. (Although he was the
grandson of B. F. Harris, Sr., in
contemporary accounts, Harris was
referred to as Jr.). The park was an
inducement to riders on the Urbana
and C'hampaign Railway streetcars.
Highlights of the park facilities
were a shooting gallery, a six-
hundred seat summer theater, and
a roller coaster type of ride.

a number of years. big Fourth of
July celebrations were held there
with entertainment, picnics, and
impressive fireworks displays. The
park is now named Eisner Park in
honor of the Eisner family of
Champaign. The building currently
used as a senior citizens center by
the Champaign Park District was
the 7 Eisner grocery store for
many years.

William B. Mckinley

61



Railroad development at the turn of the century brought about
more progress in several Champaign towns. But Rantoul was
to suffer its most serious setback from its proximity to the
railroad. Sparks from a fast moving Illinois Central train going
though town on August 9, 1901, ignited the Goff and Yates
elevator; fire swept throughout the business district and
beyond to destroy some fifty-four business and professional
offices, the Baptist Church, the Catholic Church, and several
homes. Within two months Rantoul had cleared the debris
from the fire and had more than four hundred workmen busy
erecting thirty-five new two-story brick buildings in the
downtown area.

Interurban cars
No. 47 (c. 1909-1918); No. 33 'c. 1900);
No. 1 (1890s)

/
Persons identified by an "x," left to
riht: John Key, Ora Patterson, Walter
Hail, Charley Bartiey

RantoL'i, after the fire, 1901

---

- - -

-- ._, - .- .- '-
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.
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EXHIBIT A

PLAN COMMISSION REVIEW
FINDING OF FACT - LANDMARK

804 North Neil Street
(Sagamore Building)

FINDINGS OF FACT ON CRITERION (a), (b), (c), and (d) OF SECTION 37-502 OF THE
ZONING ORDINANCE:

(a) The extent to which the application meets one or more of the applicable criteria set
forth in either Section 37-491, Section 37-492, or Section 37-493. The application fully
meets the criterion set forth in the recommendation of the Historic Preservation
Commission.

FINDINGS OF FACT ON CRITERION (a) OF SECTION 37-491 OF THE ZONING
ORDINANCE:

(a) The property or structure has significant value as part of the historical, cultural,
artistic, social, ethnic, or other heritage of the nation, state or community
because the building was originally used as car barns for the inter-urban street railway
system (known as the Illinois Traction System). The Illinois Traction System existed
from the late 1 890s to the 1 940s and linked Champaign-Urbana with Danville, Decatur,
Bloomington, Peoria, Springfield and St. Louis. The street railway system played an
important role in the physical development of Champaign, permitting expansion of the
City by opening up new areas for residential development and providing transportation
for both people and goods throughout Central Illinois. The inter-urban system allowed
Champaign businesses to draw from a regional market, thus contributing towards
Champaign's economic development.

(b) Whether the designation is consistent with the intent and objectives of this Article, as
set forth in Section 37-452, and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally. This
application is consistent with the intent and objectives of the Historic Preservation
Ordinance and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally.

(c) Whether the property owner has demonstrated that a reasonable return cannot be
obtained on the property if it is so designated. The property owner has not
demonstrated an inability to obtain a reasonable return on the property.

(d) Whether the property owner opposes the designation. The property owner supports the
designation of the property as a landmark.



. .
REPORT TO PLAN COMMISSION

FROM: Bruce A. Knight, Planning Director

DATE: July 22, 1998

SUBJECT: Case No. HPC 98-004: APPLICATION FOR LANDMARK DESIGNATION
FOR 804 NORTH NEIL STREET (SAGAMORE
BUILDING)

Introduction: The Plan Commission is requested to make a recommendation to City Council
on the application to designate 804 North Neil Street (Sagamore Building) as a landmark.

Background:

Applicant: Jeremy Hayes
Owner: Peter Bannon & Joseph Bannon Jr.
Location: 804 North Neil Street (west side of Neil Street between North & Tremont Streets)

Description of Property: This building at 804 North Neil Street is bounded by Neil Street on
the west, Hickory Street on the east, Tremont Street on the north, and North Street on the
south. Parts of the building have undergone several demolitions and reconstructions over the
years and the property is essentially made up of three attached but distinct buildings. The site
was originally used as the trolley barns for the inter-urban railway that once linked Champaign-
Urbana to other Central Illinois communities. At the time that these buildings were used for
inter-urban trolleys, North Street was the location of the right-of-way for the Central Illinois
Railroad. The streetcar tracks were located to the north of the site along Tremont Street.
Streetcar tracks turned south from Tremont Street and proceeded down Neil Street towards
Downtown Champaign where they split again, heading east through Urbana and communities
beyond, and west past West Side Park and to communities to the west of the City.

The east half of the property, known as the Hickory Street Barn is the oldest portion of the
building. A Neil Street Barn once stood attached to the Hickory Street Barn, but fronting on Neil
Street. This structure was demolished and replaced, possibly several times, with other
structures. The northwest section of the building remaining today was built in 1927. The date
of construction of the southwest section of the building has not been determined, but is
estimated at the early 1950s.

Hickory Street Barn (East Section): The Hickory Street Barn dates to before 1909 and possibly
as early as 1894. The Hickory Street Barn is of brick construction with little architectural detail
except for brick detailing around the windows. This section of the building has a stepped gable
roof with light and ventilation windows separating the two portions of the roof to create a two
story interior space.

The north and south facades are divided into ten bays. The north facade contains ten windows
grouped in pairs. Each window is divided into twelve lights. All windows are detailed with
arched lintels. The vertical section separating the two planes of the roof contain windows, but
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has been altered over the years by the removal of some windows and the addition of black
corrugated metal sheathing.

The south facade currently contains the main entrance for the current tenant of the building.
This facade originally matched the north facade with ten 1 2-light windows. However, some of
the windows have been bricked in or altered to support HVAC systems or removed to create
the main building entrance. The original outlines of many of the windows are still evident. At
the west end of the south facade, two horizontal rectangular windows have been added. The
roof top light and ventilation windows on the south facade appear to have the original
configuration. Unlike the north facade, no corrugated metal sheathing is found on these
windows.

The east facade originally contained the streetcar bay entrances and is characterized by a
stepped parapet, capped in either metal or tile. This facade has been altered substantially over
the years. The streetcar bays have been bricked in and two new 20-light windows added on
the north end of the facade where one of the streetcar bays was once located. Two loading
bays with corrugated metal doors, as well as an access door have replaced the streetcar bays
on this facade. This facade originally contained a round window, accented with a double row of
bricks. This window has also been filled in with brick.

Northwest Section: The northwest section of the building, the tallest in the complex, is a full two
stories. Built in 1927, this section of the building is brick construction with a flat roof. This
portion was likely oriented toward Neil Street when it was originally constructed. The Neil Street
facade (east facade) contains a simple brick two story facade. The parapet wall, accented
across the top with a diamond brick pattern, slopes gently to a peak, hiding the flat roof behind.
Four upper story windows (16 lights each) are symmetrically placed across the facade. The
first floor contains a loading bay door, another access door and a window where an additional
loading bay door was originally located.

The north facade contains a corrugated metal loading door, three identical multi-paned window
groupings and two smaller windows running from east to west in the first story. The upper story
contains five multi-paned windows placed symmetrically above the first story window and door
openings. The west end of the north facade contains two billboards. Only the second story of
this building is exposed to the south with the same multi-paned window groupings across the
upper story as are found on the north facade. One of the window groupings on the south
facade has been bricked in.

The original use of this section of the building was for a stock and office building. This section
replaced earlier sections that were known as the Neil Street Car Barns and the garage and
meter test rooms.

Southwest Section: This section of the building is a single story, flat roof brick structure fronting
on to Neil Street. The front (Neil Street) facade is flush with the facade of the northwest
section. The front facade contains an entrance door at the north end of the structure and a
window grouping similar to those found on the south facade.

The south facade contains 4 bays, each containing a grouping of windows. The window
groupings consist of two 16 light windows flanking a brick center portion. The brick center of



. .
each window grouping may originally have been another 16 light window. An entry door is also
located along this facade.

This structure was originally used as office space in the complex and currently houses a
graphic art business.

Comprehensive Plan: The Comprehensive Plan recognizes historic preservation as a tool for
achieving healthy neighborhoods and commercial areas. The Plan encourages the
preservation of buildings that have historical and architectural significance as a means of
promoting visual environments of high aesthetic quality and variety.

Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) Recommendation: At its meeting on May 7,
1998, the HPC voted (7-0) in favor of findings on Criteria 37-491 (a) and determined that this
property is therefore eligible to be designated as a landmark. The criteria for designation that
the HPC found favorably upon are as follows:

(a) Significant value as part of the historical, cultural, artistic, social, ethnic, or other
heritage of the nation, state or community.

Plan Commission Consideration of Applications for Designations: In the May 28, 1998
report to Plan Commission, Staff proposed a text amendment that would clarify the factors that
Plan Commission and City Council should consider when recommending and making decisions
on designation cases. Plan Commission forwarded the proposed text amendment to City
Council for approval with a modification. The City Council referred the revised text amendment
to a joint subcommittee of the Plan Commission and Historic Preservation Commission to
resolve differences between the Commissions. On July 21, 1998 the City Council passed an
amendment which added the following four factors for consideration:

(a) the extent to which the application meets the relevant designation criteria;

(b) whether the designation is consistent with the intent and objectives of this Article,
as set forth in Section 37-452, and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally;

(c) whether the property owner has demonstrated the designation would prevent the
property owner from obtaining a reasonable economic return on the property; and,

(d) whether the property owner opposes the designation.

Alternatives:

1. Concur with the findings of the HPC and recommend to City Council that the application for
landmark designation be approved.

2. Determine that the application for designation meets different criteria in Section 37-491 than
determined by the HPC, make findings to this effect, and recommend to the City Council
that the application for landmark designation be approved.
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3. Determine that the application for designation does not meet any of the criteria in Section

37-502, make findings to this effect, and recommend to the City Council that the application
for landmark designation be denied.

Discussion of Alternatives: Alternative 1 should be chosen if the Plan Commission concurs
with Plan Commission criterion (a), confirming the HPC findings and reasons set forth in the
findings and believes that the property meets the other three Plan Commission criteria. The
HPC found that the application met criterion (a) from Section 37-491 of the Zoning Ordinance
as follows:

(a) Significant value as part of the historical, cultural, artistic, social, ethnic, or other
heritage of the nation, state or community. The applicant has supported this criterion by
documenting the uses of the building and providing a history of the inter-urban street railway
system that linked Champaign-Urbana to other Central Illinois communities. The Illinois
Traction System, organized in 1904, was made up of several local street railway companies,
who eventually merged by the 1920s into one company (Illinois Traction, Inc.). The system
linked Champaign-Urbana with Danville, Decatur, Bloomington, Clinton, Peoria, Springfield,
and St. Louis and stopped at many points in between.

From the 1 890s to the 1 940s, the electrified inter-urban systems played an important part in
the physical, economic, and cultural development of Champaign, providing transportation
for both people and goods throughout the Champaign-Urbana community and the Central
Illinois region. The electrified inter-urban system, and its predecessor the horse-drawn
street railways, affected the physical development of Champaign by opening up new areas
of the community for development. The street railway systems provided the means for the
beginnings of suburbanization, enabling people to live further and further from the City's
center to escape the urban congestion and pollution that industrialization brought yet still
remain accessible to goods and services found in the City's center.

The inter-urban system also expanded the commercial markets for Champaign businesses,
providing easy access to Champaign from other regional communities, thus contributing
toward the economic development of Champaign, as well as to the social and cultural
development of the community. Many cultural and recreational attractions were located
along the street railway lines for accessibility to both local and out-of-town patrons.

The specific Plan Commission considerations are as follows:

(a) The extent to which the application meets one or more of the applicable criteria set
forth in either Section 37-491, Section 37-492, or Section 37-493. The application fully
meets the criterion set forth in the recommendation of the Historic Preservation
Commission.

(b) Whether the designation is consistent with the intent and objectives of this Article, as
set forth in Section 37-452, and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally. This
application is consistent with the intent and objectives of the Historic Preservation
Ordinance and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally.

(c) Whether the property owner has demonstrated that a reasonable return cannot be
obtained on the property if it is so designated. The property owner has not

4



. .
demonstrated an inability to obtain a reasonable return on the property.

(d) Whether the property owner opposes the designation. The property owner supports the
designation of the property as a landmark.

If Plan Commission chooses Alternative 1, the Commission should reference the Historic
Preservation Commission findings as a whole in its motion for a recommendation for approval
and make findings on the other three criteria for Plan Commission consideration.

Alternative 2 should be chosen if the Plan Commission feels the property meets different criteria
for designation than those criteria found by the Historic Preservation Commission or, if the Plan
Commission feels the criteria are met for different reasons than those given by the HPC in its
findings. If the Plan Commission chooses this Alternative, it should make findings on specific
criteria and include the reasons why the property meets a particular criterion. Choosing this
Alternative also provides for the Plan Commission to forward the application to the City Council
with a recommendation for approval, but with revised findings.

Alternative 3 should be chosen if the Plan Commission feels the property does not meet any of
the criteria in Section 37-502 of the Zoning Ordinance or that it is inconsistent with the purpose
of the Zoning Ordinance and Historic Preservation Ordinance, and is therefore not worthy as a
landmark. The Commission may also consider owner opposition. The owner of this property
supports its designation. If Plan Commission chooses this Alternative, it should state reasons
why the property does not meet the criteria.

Budget and Staffing Impact: If the property is designated as a landmark, staff time will be
required to review any applications for exterior alterations.

Recommended Action: Staff recommends the Plan Commission choose Alternative 1 to
adopt the proposed findings as attached, and recommend to City Council that the application
for landmark designation be approved.

Prepared by:

(PhiIlip
Zoning Administrator

KDP:mlm

Attachment: A - Proposed Finding
B - Application for Landmark Designation - 804 North Neil Street
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PLAN COMMISSION REVIEW
FINDING OF FACT - LANDMARK

804 North Neil Street
(Sagamore Building)

FINDINGS OF FACT ON CRITERION (a), (b), (c), and (d) OF SECTION 37-502 OF THE
ZONING ORDINANCE:

(a) The extent to which the application meets one or more of the applicable criteria set
forth in either Section 37-491, Section 37-492, or Section 37-493. The application fully
meets the criterion set forth in the recommendation of the Historic Preservation
Commission.

FINDINGS OF FACT ON CRITERION (a) OF SECTION 37-491 OF THE ZONING
ORDINANCE:

(a) The property or structure has significant value as part of the historical, cultural,
artistic, social, ethnic, or other heritage of the nation, state or community
because the building was originally used as car barns for the inter-urban street railway
system (known as the Illinois Traction System). The Illinois Traction System existed
from the late 1 890s to the 1 940s and linked Champaign-Urbana with Danville, Decatur,
Bloomington, Peoria, Springfield and St. Louis. The street railway system played an
important role in the physical development of Champaign, permitting expansion of the
City by opening up new areas for residential development and providing transportation
for both people and goods throughout Central Illinois. The inter-urban system allowed
Champaign businesses to draw from a regional market, thus contributing towards
Champaign's economic development.

(b) Whether the designation is consistent with the intent and objectives of this Article, as
set forth in Section 37-452, and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally. This
application is consistent with the intent and objectives of the Historic Preservation
Ordinance and the intent of the Zoning Ordinance generally.

(c) Whether the property owner has demonstrated that a reasonable return cannot be
obtained on the property if it is so designated. The property owner has not
demonstrated an inability to obtain a reasonable return on the property.

(d) Whether the property owner opposes the designation. The property owner supports the
designation of the property as a landmark.

g:\histpres\hpc\pc\98004.doc

6



... ..

•ofCaign

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION
dO PLANNING DEPARTMENT
102 N. NEIL ST.
CHAMPAIGN, IL 61820
PHONE: (217)351-4486
FAX: (217)351-6910

or Oce Use Only

r r'1-i.
I

MAR 1 2 1998

PLANNING DEPTI

Designation
CaseNo.:__________

APPLICATION
FOR

LANDMARK DESIGNATION

PLEASE PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION (please print or
type):

1. Common street address of Property being nominpted:
viore ;Id;n3. O4 Wor ,v€;I S,ree.+

2. Legal description of property being nominated:
J-o :Z1 f i', ,3/i(' /3 o1 acd/e,/qndShh/r's
4A.4;on, See. Il T 19W.

3. Property Index Number: 4Z. - 2 £) - /Z. 12. f - o I I
(from tax assessor's roll)

4. Name of Property Owner: 3c,1,io 73.+er L / Jo.5 €.pii Jr.
(from tax assessor's roll)

5. Address of Property Owner: c&,iora PutIsin C1o'. (from tax assessor's roll) cf J. Ne I
/L ,
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6. Attach a map showing the boundaries and location of the property.

C
7. Attach photographs and slides showing the important features of the property or

structure.

8. Indicate which of the following criteria apply to the property or structure (check
all that apply):

The property or structure has significant value as part of the historical,
cultural, artistic, social ethnic, or other heritage of the nation, state or
community

C] The property or structure is associated with an important person or event in
national, state or local history.

U The property or structure is representative of the distinguishing characteristics
of an architectural type inherently valuable for the study of a period style,
craftsmanship, method of construction or use of indigenous materials.

U The property or structure is the notable work of a master builder, designer,
architect or artist whose individual genius has influenced an era.

U The property or structure is identifiable as an established and familiar visual
feature in the community owing to itsunique location or physical-
characteristics.

U The property or structure is one of the few remaining examples of a particular
architectural style or use, or an example which majQi.
architectural style, and has undergone little or no alteration since its
construction.

9. Attach a general statement describing the property and its historical significance
and the reasons why it should be designated as a historic landmark. Include a
statement describing how the property meets the criteria listed above in #8. At
the end of these statements, please list your sources ofinformation, including
bibliographic references.
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PLEASE NOTE: Additional detailed information and photographs to support this
nomination may be required if the Historic Preservation Commission finds that the
property merits consideration.

10. Please provide the following applicant information.

APPLICANTS NAME: Jcrvv/ iy PHONE(day): 33 Z-O2OB

ADDRESS: i, , CITY: C k
12.0) . ch ZIP CODE: (i7Q

id' ccb RL
Morc) IL (q

7Ej

APPLICANT
SIGNATURE: (II)447' DATE: 9€'
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REPORT TO HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION

FROM: Bruce A. Knight, Planning Director çivf'z

DATE: May21, 1998

SUBJECT: Case No. HPC 98-004: Application for Landmark Designation for
804 North Neil Street (Sagamore Building)

Introduction: The Historic Preservation Commission is requested to make a final
recommendation to Plan Commission on the application to designate 804 North Neil Street
(Sagamore Building) as a Landmark. The Commission is required, by the Zoning Ordinance to
incorporate all applicable findings in its recommendation.

Background:

Applicant: Jeremy Hayes
Owner: Peter Bannon & Joseph Bannon Jr.
Location: 804 North Neil Street (West side of Neil Street between North & Tremont Streets)

Description of Property: This building at 804 North Neil Street is bounded by Neil Street on
the west, Hickory Street on the east, Tremont Street on the north and North Street on the
south. Parts of the building have undergone several demolitions and reconstructions over the
years and is essentially made up of three attached but distinct buildings. The site was originally
used as the trolley barns for the inter-urban railway that once linked Champaign-Urbana to
other Central Illinois communities. At the time that these buildings were used for inter-urban
trolleys, North Street was the location of the right-of-way for the Central Illinois Railroad. The
streetcar tracks were located to the north of the site along Tremont Street. Streetcar tracks
turned south from Tremont Street and proceeded down Neil Street towards Downtown
Champaign where they split again, heading east through Urbana and communities beyond, as
well as past West Side Park and to communities to the west of the City.

The east half of the property, known as the Hickory Street Barn is the oldest portion of the
building. A Neil Street Barn once stood attached to the Hickory Street Barn, but fronting on Neil
Street. This structure was demolished and replaced, possibly several times, with other
structures. The northwest section of the building remaining today was built in 1927. The date
of construction of the southwest section of the building has not been determined but is
estimated at the early I 950s.

Hickory Street Barn (East Section): The Hickory Street Barn dates to before 1909 and possibly
as early as 1894. The Hickory Street Barn is of brick construction with little architectural detail
except for brick detailing around windows. This section of the building has a stepped gable roof
with light and ventilation windows separating the two portions of the roof to create a two story
interior space.

The north and south facades are divided into ten bays. The north facade contains ten windows
grouped in pairs. Each window is divided into twelve lights. All windows are detailed with
arched lintels. The vertical section separating the two planes of the roof contain windows, but
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has been altered over the years by the removal of some windows and the addition of black
corrugated metal sheathing.

The south facade currently contains the main entrance for the current tenant building. This
facade originally matched the north facade with ten 12-light windows. However, some of the
windows have been bricked in or altered to support HVAC systems or removed to create the
main building entrance. The original outlines of many of the windows are still evident. At the
west end of the south facade, two horizontal rectangular windows have been added. The roof
top light and ventilation windows on the south facade appear to have the original configuration.
Unlike the north facade, no corrugated metal sheathing is found on these windows.

The east facade originally contained the streetcar bay entrances and is characterized by a
stepped parapet, capped in either metal or tile. This facade has been altered substantially over
the years. The streetcar bays have been bricked in and two new 20-light windows added on
the north end of the facade where one of the streetcar bays was once located. Two loading
bays with corrugated metal doors, as well as an access door have replaced the streetcar bays
on this facade. This facade originally contained a round window, accented with a double row of
bricks. This window has also been filled in with brick.

Northwest Section: The northwest section of the building, the tallest in the complex, is a full two
stories. Built in 1927, this section of the building is brick construction with flat roof. This portion
was likely oriented toward Neil Street when it was originally constructed. The Neil Street facade
(east facade) contains a simple brick two story facade. The parapet wall, accented across the
top with a diamond brick pattern, slopes gently to a peak, hiding the flat roof behind. Four
upper story windows (16 lights each) are symmetrically placed across the facade. The first floor
contains a loading bay door, another access door and a window where an additional loading
bay door was originally located.

The north facade contains a corrugated metal loading door, three identical multi-paned window
groupings and two smaller windows running from east to west in the first story. The upper story
contains five multi-paned windows placed symmetrically above the first story window and door
openings. The west end of the north facade contains two billboards. Only the second story of
this building is exposed to the south with the same multi-paned window groupings across the
upper story as are found on the north facade. One of the window groupings on the south
facade has been bricked in.

The original use of this section of the building was for a stock and office building. This section
replaced earlier sections that were known as the Neil Street Car Barns and the garage and
meter test rooms.

Southwest Section: This section of the building is a single story, flat roof brick structure fronting
on to Neil Street. The front (Neil Street) facade is flush with the facade of the northwest
section. The front facade contains an entrance door at the north end of the structure and a
window grouping similar to those found on the south facade.

The south facade contains 4 bays, each containing a grouping of windows. The window
groupings consist of two 16 light windows flanking a brick center portion. The brick center of
each window grouping may originally have been another 16 light window. An entry door is also
located along this facade.
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This structure was originally used as office space in the complex and currently houses a
graphic art business.

Comprehensive Plan: The Comprehensive Plan recognizes historic preservation as a tool for
achieving healthy neighborhoods and commercial areas. The Plan encourages the
preservation of buildings that have historical and architectural significance as a means of
promoting visual environments of high aesthetic quality and variety.

Preliminary Review: At its meeting on April 15, 1998, the Commission considered the
application worthy of further consideration and approved (4-0, 1 abstaining) findings on Criteria
37-491 (a):

(a) Significant value as part of the historical, cultural, artistic, social, ethnic, or other
heritage of the nation, state or community

The Commission requested no additional information.

Alternatives:

1. Recommend to Plan Commission that the nomination be approved and make findings on all
applicable designation criteria.

2. Determine that the application does not meet any of the criteria for designation and make
findings to this effect on Ji criteria.

Discussion of Alternatives: Alternative 1 should be chosen if the Commission determines
that the application meets at least one criterion listed in the Zoning Ordinance, Section 3 7-491
- Criteria for Designation Landmarks.

The applicant states the property meets Criterion (a) from Section 37-491 of the Zoning
Ordinance.

(a) The property or structure has significant value as part of the historical, cultural,
artistic, social, ethnic or other heritage of the nation, state or community.

The applicant has supported this criterion by documenting the uses of the building and
providing a history of the inter-urban street railway system that linked Champaign-Urbana to
other Central Illinois communities. The Illinois Traction System, organized in 1904, was made
up of several local street railway companies who eventually merged by the 1920s into one
company (Illinois Traction Inc.). The system linked Champaign-Urbana with Danville, Decatur,
Bloomington, Clinton, Peoria, Springfield, and St. Louis and stopped at many points in between.

From the 1890s to the 1940s, the electrified inter-urban systems played an important part in the
physical, economic, and cultural development of Champaign, providing transportation for both
people and goods throughout the Champaign-Urbana community and the Central Illinois region.
The electrified inter-urban system, and its predecessor the horse-drawn street railways,
affected the physical development of Champaign by opening up new areas of the community
for development. The street railway systems provided the means for the beginnings of
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suburbanization, enabling people to live further and further from the City's center to escape the
urban congestion and pollution that industrialization brought yet still remain accessible to goods
and services found in the City's center.

The inter-urban system also expanded the commercial markets for Champaign businesses,
providing easy access to Champaign from other regional communities, thus contributing toward
the economic development of Champaign, as well as to the social and cultural development of
the community. Many cultural and recreational attractions located along the street railway lines
for accessibility to both local and out-of-town patrons.

Alternative 2 should be chosen if the Commission feels that the property does not meet any of
the designation criteria and should not be designated as a landmark. If the Commission
chooses this alternative, it should make a finding regarding each criterion in Section 37-491 of
the Zoning Ordinance. Each finding should state the reasons why the application does not
meet the criterion.

Budget and Staffing Impact: If the property is designated as a landmark, staff time will be
required to review any applications for exterior alterations.

Recommended Action: Staff recommends the Commission choose Alternative 1 and
recommend to Plan Commission that the nomination be approved. Staff recommends the
Commission adopt the proposed findings, as attached.

Prepared by:

Christine Newbold
Planner II

CN:mlm

Attachment: A - Proposed Finding for Final Review
B - Application for Landmark Designation - 804 North Neil Street
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HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION
FINAL REVIEW

PROPOSED FINDING OF FACT - LANDMARK
804 North Neil Street (Sagamore Building)

FINDINGS OF FACT ON CRITERION (a) OF SECTION 37-491 OF THE ZONING
ORDINANCE:

The property or structure has significant value as part of the historical, cultural, artistic,
social, ethnic, or other heritage of the nation, state or community because the building
was originally used as car barns for the inter-urban street railway system (known as the Illinois
Traction System). The Illinois Traction System existed from the late 1890s to the 1940s and
linked Champaign-Urbana with Danville, Decatur, Bloomington, Peoria, Springfield and St.
Louis. The street railway system played an important role in the physical development of
Champaign, permitting expansion of the City by opening up new areas for residential
development and providing transportation for both people and goods throughout Central Illinois.
The inter-urban system allowed Champaign businesses to draw from a regional market, thus
contributing towards Champaign's economic development.

g:\histpres\hpc\98004-f.doc
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6. Attach a map showing the boundaries and location of the property.

7. Attach photographs and slides showing the important features of the property or
structure.

8. Indicate which of the following criteria apply to the property or structure (check
all that apply):

The property or structure has significant value as part of the historical,
cultural, artistic, social ethnic, or other heritage of the nation, state or
community

Li The property or structure is associated with an important person or event in
national, state or local history.

Li The property or structure is representative of the distinguishing characteristics
of an architectural type inherently valuable for the study of a period style,
craftsmanship, method of construction or use of indigenous materials.

Li The property or structure is the notable work of a master builder, designer,
architect or artist whose individual genius has influenced an era.

Li The property or structure is identifiable as an established and familiar visual
feature in the community owing to its unique location or physical-
characteristics.

Li The property or structure is one of the few remaining examples of a particular
architectural style or use, or an example which clearly represents a major
architectural style, and has undergone little or no alteration since its
construction.

9. Attach a general statement describing the property and its historical significance
and the reasons why it should be designated as a historic landmark. Include a
statement describing how the property meets the criteria listed above in #8. At
the end of these statements, please list your sources of information, including
bibliographic references.



. .
PLEASE NOTE: Additional detailed information and photographs to support this

• nomination may be required if the Historic Preservation Commission finds that the
property merits consideration.

10. Please provide the following applicant information.

APPLICANTS NAME: Jcrvw' L(iy PHONE(day): 33lC'2-OB
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The structure at 804 N. Neil, currently known as the Sagamore Building has a rich history
and significant value as part of the historical and cultural heritage of the community. The
building was at one time the streetcar barns for the twin cities' electric streetcar railway,
operated by the Urbana and Champaign, Railway, Gas and Electric Light Company. This
company was one of the many companies part of the Illinois Traction Company, one of
the largest interurban rail systems in the United States, stretching across the entire state of
Illinois. City directories from the early part of the twentieth century refer to the building
(at 803 Hickory Street) as simply "I.T.S. Barn" (for Illinois Traction System).
"Interurban barn" is another common reference. The street railway in Champaign-Urbana
is an important part of local history and a prominent part of the development of the two
cities. For thirty-seven years this system was the only form of public transportation
(Chinn, 1979). The tracks and cars of the interurban have disappeared. The buildings
that once housed them are some of the last vestiges of the days of streetcars. Preserving
the former car barns is one way to connect present and future generations to Champaign's
cultural history.

The over 22,000 square foot building remains in many ways similar to its appearance in
the days of the streetcars. Additions to the original Hickory Street Car Barn have been
altered, but the main building's exterior remains intact. Other tenants of the space were
Champaign-Urbana City Lines Incorporated, a subsidiary of National City Lines, who
used part of the building to house twenty of its buses in the 1940's. Illinois Power
retained ownership of the building from the streetcar days, going by older names like
"Illinois-Iowa Power Company" and "Illinois Power and Light Corporation". Like many
of the warehouses of the era, the structure was built to last and remains as a viable
industrial and commercial property, recently housing corporate operations of Garcia's
Pizza and currently housing Sagamore Publishing (the owner), Management Learning
Laboratory, and Rad Art Screenprints.

It is unknown when this building was first constructed. Its presence is first documented
in the Sanborn fire insurance maps in 1909 (see attachment). Beginning in the late
1860's, Sanborn Map Company produced maps of cities for the purpose of identifying
fire hazardous buildings and industrial sites for insurance companies and underwriters
(Manning, 1994). Maps of Champaign prior to 1909 do not provide outlines of the
building. It is unsure whether the building existed in those previous years since Sanborn
would probably indicate an industrial building such as a streetcar barn, even though it was
north of the downtown area typically covered by maps at that time. One source, an article
published in the Champaign-Urbana Courier, indicates that the building was built in
1893-94 after Benjamin F. Harris, Jr. bought the Urbana-Champaign Railway, Gas and
Electricity Company from William B. McKinley (see attachment) in 1892. No other
evidence of this construction date is found, though. An age estimate on the Tax
Assessor's property record indicates "1920?" as the construction date, but this is
apparently much later than the actual date according to Sanborn map documentation.
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After 1909, the history of the building is much clearer. Through the use of the Sanborn
maps, we can see the changes that took place at this property over the years. Changes in
use and ownership, as well, are documented. The first map that documents the property
is the 1909 edition. The map shows the building divided into two sections, "Hickory St.
Barn" and "Neil Street Barn". Collectively, this and two other properties across Hickory
were labeled as Urbana and Champaign Railway, Gas and Electric Light Company. The
Hickory Street structure is twice as large as the Neil Street barn. The 1924 Sanborn
shows the same arrangement, with the Neil Street section labeled as "Garage and Meter
Test Room". Between 1924 and 1927 this part of the building was apparently
demolished. 1929 maps illustrate a new addition in place of the old one. This section
was flush with the north side of the Hickory Street barn, fronting Tremont Street. The
map indicates that the addition was built in 1927. It is labeled as "Stock and Office
Building 'Semi F.P.' ". This 1929 map also shows a third section of the building labeled
as a garage that fronts North street to give the entire structure its fully rectangular shape it
maintains today. This is not to say that the current "southwest section" addition is the
original that was constructed between 1924 and 1929. It has undergone significant
changes in structure (the exterior material, for instance) and use that may indicate several
demolitions and reconstructions. This is all the more likely since it is the smallest and
simplest part of the building, having only one story. In addition, Sanborn maps in 1959
and the 1960's label this addition as "OFF. [office] Noncomb - 1956. Concrete floor.
Metal deck roof."

The entire structure is currently all brick and as explained above, a connection of three
major sections. The entire building has little architectural detail, showing only minor
brick detailing around windows and doors. The first section is the rear part fronting
Hickory street. This section is distinguished on Sanborn fire insurance maps as early as
1909 as the "Hickory Street Car Barns". Since no known evidence of the property exists
prior to 1909, it is entirely possible that it was an independent structure at one time, pre-
dating the original Neil Street Barn. It has a stepped front gable roof. This section of the
structure is a tall one story with a monitor roof pitch adding a second story space in the
middle. The north and south sides have ten bays, five groups of two bays. The north
side has particularly well preserved twelve-light single-pane windows. All of this
section's windows are treated with triple rowlock segmental arches. Partially intact
windows remain on the south side as well. The rear facade was obviously once the focal
point of the structure. It is the most detailed, with two large twenty light windows at the
northern end and a large round window (now bricked over) at the top center surrounded
by double rowlock border. While there are now two loading docks on this facade, the
brick pattern suggests that the majority of this rear facade may have been open and
covered by doors. This may be supported by a photograph in Baker and Miller (1984, p.
63; see attachment) which does not mention the structure in the background. The photo
shows several workmen in front of a barn with cars situated in three of the four large open
doorways.

The second section of the structure is the large northeastern corner. This part is the tallest
part of the building, with two full high stories and a flat pitched roof. The side walls of
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this and the "Hickory Street Barn" section mesh well, the break in roof line providing the
best physical indication that the two were separately constructed. In addition, pre-1929
Sanborn maps show an orientation different from today's for either of the two non-
Hickory sections. Sanborn documentation later indicates that the second section was
added in 1927. This large, two story section has many large multi-light windows, all with
rowlock borders above them. The north wall (fronting Tremont Street) has a loading
dock and several groups of three adjoining multi-light windows. This second section has
a flat roof. The front extends nearly to Neil Street, showing brick detailing at the top of
this front facade.

The third and final section of the building is a flat-roofed, newer one-story addition,
presumably adding some office space to the warehouse. This section's front face is flush
with the previous section's, with its southern side fronting North street. This facade is
also flush with the Hickory street section, giving the entire structure its complete
rectangular shape. Both exterior fronts are brick in construction. This adds to the
difficulty in assessing the date of this addition because maps after the addition was
originally made between 1924 and 1927 indicate a concrete block construction. From
this time until sometime between 1949 and 1959, it was used as garage. All later
indications (including current observation) point to the use of the space as
office/reception. The major current difference in this section of the building is the shape
of the windows, which are smaller and more modern than the others on the building.

The development of the area north of downtown Champaign in which the street car barns
are located is a district heavily effected by the railroads that frame it. The property was
bordered on the south by the Illinois Central Railroad's Havana Line. It was just a half-
block from the "Big Four", or Cleveland, Cincinnati, Chicago and St. Louis Railroad, and
just a few blocks away from the juncture of the North-South line of the Illinois Central
and the Big Four. Many of the establishments in this area were formed to serve or be
served by the railroads. Just south of the barns was the Arlington/St. James hotel, which
once thrived on railroad passengers. Before its demolition, just across Hickory Street
from the barns was the power house for the Urbana and Champaign Railway, Gas and
Electric Light Co., later the Illinois Power and Light Corporation (Sanborn, 1924). One
could easily see why this part of the city was a natural location to house the street cars
that ran on electricity generated across the street by the same company.

Street railways were an important part of the operation of the city economically and
culturally, playing a formative role in the city's development. In the fall of 1869, the
early days of the city, Edward Ater, Daniel Gardner, Clark R. Griggs, and other investors
organized the Urbana and Champaign Horse Railway Company to serve the
transportation needs of the city (Stewart, 1912). Street railway did exist prior to the
formation of that company, though. According to Stewart (1912) mules were used before
this corporation's existence. For many years, the street railway was vital to the industrial
and commercial needs of the city. With the aid of this system, any of the city's
commercial enterprises had access to the city's many railroads, Champaign's economic
lifeblood. In these early days, the twin cities' street railway contributed to regional

3
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economic development by providing the only access for Urbana industries to the Illinois
Central before the Indianapolis, Bloomington and Western railroad began operation in the
1870's. In 1890, twenty-one years after the introduction of horses, utility magnate and
later senator William B. McKinley was elected president of the Urbana and Champaign
Railway, Gas and Electric Company (which evolved from Urbana and Champaign Horse
Railway Company) and things would soon change for the street railway in Champaign
and many other cities in Illinois (Stewart, 1912).

Not long after McKinley took the helm of the railway, he switched from horse to electric
power. Only a year after that monumental change, he sold his business to local banker,
B.F. Harris, amidst a financial crisis (Chinn, 1979). It was shortly after this sale (1893-
94) that a Courier article claimed the Hickory Street Car Barn was erected ("Old Car Barn
Being Razed"). In 1898, McKinley repurchased the railway and acquired the local gas and
electric utilities. This would soon become a pattern for McKinley in many cities across
the Midwestern United States (Chinn, 1979). When he purchased the Danville Street
Railway in 1901 and extended it to Champaign-Urbana, the Illinois Traction System had
begun. Stringham (1989) points out that

Although Illinois Traction System was lettered on all of the line's equipment,
and was used by everyone who spoke of it, there was never a time when that was
its official title. The system instead was made of many companies, financed by
the same syndicate, organized as the Illinois Traction Company in 1904.. .But as
time went by, some of the smaller companies consolidated with each other until
1923, all electric line became Illinois Traction Incorporated (p. 249).

For forty years, from 1903 when the first trip from Danville to Champaign was made, to
the 1940's when parts of the Traction lines were scrapped, the interurban linked Illinois
cities, enhancing the mobility of Champaign's residents and shaping the way central
Illinois developed. As J.R. Stewart put it in 1918, "The railroads of Champaign County,
both steam and electric, have completed its mediums of development, originating in its
great wealth of the soil and its remarkable intellectual spirit which received such an early
and permanent impetus" (p. 329). This of course, is not to mention the use of the
streetcars within the city. The streetcars of the twin cities played an integral role in the
everyday lives of many citizens. The streetcars allowed Champaign's residents to have
more choice in where they lived, making a daily commute to work a possibility.

Susan Chinn (1979) describes the social importance of the streetcars best, illustrating
such events on its cars from college fraternity parties (it was quite fashionable to rent a
car and ride around town all night) and funeral processions. The street railway also was
important for recreation. Parks, both public and private were built along the streetcar
lines, enhancing the lives of the city's residents. When B. F. Harris was running the
streetcar operations in the 1890's he built a full-blown amusement park along the line-a
common practice in those days designed to enhance ridership. Baker and Miller (1984)
describe the West End Amusement Park, "on Church Street at what was then the western
city limit of Champaign. The park was an inducement to riders on the Urbana and

4



. .
Champaign Railway streetcars. Highlights of the park facilities were a shooting gallery, a
six-hundred seat summer theater, and a roller coaster type of ride" (p. 61). Chinn (1979)
provides reminiscences of the streetcar days when the nightlife of downtown with its
theaters and dance halls was always a few minutes away. It was the streetcars that moved
the city and made it possible to continue to expand its boundaries.

Many other Illinois Traction buildings have been destroyed in other cities. The legacy of
the days of streetcars in many cities has been forgotten. Fortunately, citizens of
Champaign have showed commitment to preserving its cultural past by saving old
railroad facilities, including the one-time ITS station and ticket office. As it moves ahead
to the future, the city and region should remember that it was rail that made the city and
helped it grow and prosper.

5
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1) 1909 Sanborn Fire Insurance map. First documentation of the property.

2) 1969 Sanborn Fire Insurance map. Recent depiction of the property.

3) Photograph, William B. McKinley.

4) Photograph, Unnamed Interurban barn in Champaign County.
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As the non-farm work force grew larger, local passenger
transportation needs increased greatly. Utilities magnate
William B. McKinley electrified the old horse-drawn street
railway in 1891. The following year, he sold the business to
Benjamin F. Harris, Jr. The new owner, although only
twenty-five years old at the time he bought the company,
successfully managed and expanded services of the Urbana and
Champaign Railway until 1898. At that time, McKinley
repurchased the company, and also acquired the local gas and
electric utilities in the Twin Cities. In 1900, he negotiated
ownership of the Danville Street Railway, and expanded its
system to serve the outlying towns of Catlin and Westville. By
masterful planning he had formed the nucleus of an electric
railroad called the Danville, Urbana, and Champaign Railway
Company. In 1901, the route of this new passenger train was
a subject of great interest; when finally revealed, it was cause
for celebration in communities which' would benefit from
improved transportation. Mayview, Ogden, and St. Joseph were
included along the route to Danville. A branch line was built
from Ogden to Homer in 1904, which was to enhance the
economic interests of both communities.

I

Street Railway Conductor or Motorman
(Possibly G. Viles), c. 1905-1910,
Urbana and Champaign Railway

The West End Amusement Park
was created by Benjamin F. Harris,
Jr., on West Church Street at what
was then the western city limit of
Champaign. (Although he was the
grandson of B. F. Harris, Sr., in
con temporary accounts, Harris was
referred to as Jr.). The park was an
inducement to riders on the Urbana
and Champaign Railway streetcars.
Highlights of the park facilities
were a shooting gallery, a six-
hundred seat summer theater, and
a roller coaster type of ride.

Starting in 1894 and continuing for
a number of years, big Fourth of
July celebrations were held there
with entertainment, picnics, and
impressive fireworks displays. The
park is now named Eisner Park in
honor of the Eisner family of
£'hampaign. The building currently
used as a senior citizens center
the Champaign Park District was
the #7 Eisner grocery store for
many years.

HiIliam B. McKinle'.
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Railroad development at the turn of the century brought about
more progress in several Champaign towns. But Rantoul was
to suffer its most serious setback from its proximity to the
railroad. Sparks from a fast moving Illinois Central train going
though town on August 9, 1901, ignited the Goff and Yates
elevator; fire swept throughout the business district and
beyond to destroy some fifty-four business and professional
offices, the Baptist Church, the Catholic Church, and several
homes. Within two months Rantoul had cleared the debris
from the fire and had more than four hundred workmen busy
erecting thirty-five new two-story brick buildings in the
downtown area.

Interurban cars
No. 47 (c. 1909-1918); No. 33 (c. 1900);
No. 1 (1890's)

/
Persons identified by an "x," left to
right: John Key, Ora Patterson, Walter
Ha.]], Charley Bartley

Rantoul, after the fire, 1901
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